



# Webex Calling Integration Guide

First Published: September 16, 2024 Last Updated: February 03, 2025

### **Americas Headquarters**

Cisco Systems, Inc. 170 West Tasman Drive San Jose, CA 95134-1706 USA http://www.cisco.com Tel: 408 526-4000 800 553-NETS (6387) Fax: 408 527-0882 THE SPECIFICATIONS AND INFORMATION REGARDING THE PRODUCTS IN THIS MANUAL ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE WITHOUT NOTICE. ALL STATEMENTS, INFORMATION, AND RECOMMENDATIONS IN THIS MANUAL ARE BELIEVED TO BE ACCURATE BUT ARE PRESENTED WITHOUT WARRANTY OF ANY KIND, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED. USERS MUST TAKE FULL RESPONSIBILITY FOR THEIR APPLICATION OF ANY PRODUCTS. THE SOFTWARE LICENSE AND LIMITED WARRANTY FOR THE ACCOMPANYING PRODUCT ARE SET FORTH IN THE INFORMATION PACKET THAT SHIPPED WITH THE PRODUCT AND ARE INCORPORATED HEREIN BY THIS REFERENCE. IF YOU ARE UNABLE TO LOCATE THE SOFTWARE LICENSE OR LIMITED WARRANTY, CONTACT YOUR CISCO REPRESENTATIVE FOR A COPY.

The Cisco implementation of TCP header compression is an adaptation of a program developed by the University of California, Berkeley (UCB) as part of UCB's public domain version of the UNIX operating system. All rights reserved. Copyright © 1981, Regents of the University of California.

NOTWITHSTANDING ANY OTHER WARRANTY HEREIN, ALL DOCUMENT FILES AND SOFTWARE OF THESE SUPPLIERS ARE PROVIDED "AS IS" WITH ALL FAULTS. CISCO AND THE ABOVE-NAMED SUPPLIERS DISCLAIM ALL WARRANTIES, EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, THOSE OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE AND NONINFRINGEMENT OR ARISING FROM A COURSE OF DEALING, USAGE, OR TRADE PRACTICE.

IN NO EVENT SHALL CISCO OR ITS SUPPLIERS BE LIABLE FOR ANY INDIRECT, SPECIAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, OR INCIDENTAL DAMAGES, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, LOST PROFITS OR LOSS OR DAMAGE TO DATA ARISING OUT OF THE USE OR INABILITY TO USE THIS MANUAL, EVEN IF CISCO OR ITS SUPPLIERS HAVE BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES.

Any Internet Protocol (IP) addresses and phone numbers used in this document are not intended to be actual addresses and phone numbers. Any examples, command display output, network topology diagrams, and other figures included in the document are shown for illustrative purposes only. Any use of actual IP addresses or phone numbers in illustrative content is unintentional and coincidental.

All printed copies and duplicate soft copies of this document are considered uncontrolled. See the current online version for the latest version.

Cisco has more than 200 offices worldwide. Addresses and phone numbers are listed on the Cisco website at www.cisco.com/go/offices.

Cisco and the Cisco logo are trademarks or registered trademarks of Cisco and/or its affiliates in the U.S. and other countries. To view a list of Cisco trademarks, go to this URL: <u>www.cisco.com/go/trademarks</u>. Third-party trademarks mentioned are the property of their respective owners. The use of the word partner does not imply a partnership relationship between Cisco and any other company. (1721R)

© 2024, 2025 Cisco Systems, Inc. All rights reserved.

# Contents

Contents	
Audience	
Introduction	6
Call recording (CR) and Quality Management (QM)	
Insights	
Architecture Overview	
Set up Webex Calling	11
Configure Webex Calling in Webex WFO	
Sync metadata to Webex WFO	
Integration details	
Complex call events	
About synchronization	
Limitations	

# Audience

- The integration's supported and unsupported features
- High-level architecture overview
- Configuration procedures
- Specific integration details

This integration guide is primarily designed for customers as well as official Cisco partners who typically install and configure Webex WFO for customers. Additionally, Cisco implementation engineers, support engineers, sales engineers, development, and marketing can find helpful information in this guide.

# Introduction

Webex WFO is a unified workforce optimization (WFO) software suite that integrates with Cisco Webex Calling to provide call recording, and data insights. The details around the supported integration are listed below.

# Call recording (CR) and Quality Management (QM)

Quality Management is the heart of a workforce optimization suite. It is the beginning of the data trail that leads to the voice-of-the-customer. Take serving your customer to the next level with a focus on quality and engage your agents to drive retention.

### **Available Features**

Feature	Supported	Currently Unsupported
Webex WFO imports audio recordings from Cisco Webex Calling	Х	
Webex WFO records audio		Х
		Audio is imported from Cisco Webex Calling
Webex WFO imports screen recordings	Х	
Webex WFO storage required for storing audio in the cloud		Х
Cloud-to-cloud integration	Х	
Webex WFO ingests manual audio pause and resume	Х	

Feature	Supported	Currently Unsupported
Webex WFO ingests manual screen recording pause and resume	Х	
Stereo recording		X
		Webex WFO only receives mono data from Webex Calling. Audio streams appear red in the media player.
Encryption of audio and screen recordings	Х	
Web recording controls and recording controls API	Х	
Speech energy events		X*
		Only pause events are supported.
Records complex call events	Х	
	See Complex call events to learn more.	
Live voice monitoring		Х
Live screen monitoring	Х	
Sync supported	Х	
	Users and contact data are synced. See <u>About synchronization</u> to learn more.	
Contact metadata import	Х	
Custom metadata	Х	
Supports multichannel integration		Х
CRM integration		Х

\*Audio recordings appear red in the media player. Pause event markers are supported in the media player. In pause and resume scenarios, pause event markers only appear in the media player of the person who manually triggered the pause event during a call. Pause event markers do not appear in the media player for other individuals in the call who did not manually trigger the pause event.

## Insights

Insights is an AI-powered BI solution that is a core part of the Webex WFO suite. Insights provides blended, non-siloed reporting that enables you to seamlessly combine all of your workforce engagement management and customer interaction data from across Webex WFO. Insights empowers you to visualize your Webex WFO data through actionable reports and dashboards. You need an Insights license for access to the listed features. See How licenses work and Manage roles and permissions for more information.

Feature	Supported	Currently Unsupported
Pre-built dashboards	Х	
Machine learning powered analysis	Х	
Custom themes	Х	
Autograph (automated data visualization)	Х	
Visual options (custom data visualization)	Х	
Dashboard sharing	Х	

### **Available Features**

# **Architecture Overview**

The integration between Cisco Webex Calling and Webex WFO is cloud only, and it uses Amazon Web Services (AWS) serverless architecture. This means a data server is not required as the applications and services run in the cloud. The main functions of this integration are to sync contact data and user data from your Webex Calling system to your Webex WFO system.

Importing recording media from Webex Calling to Webex WFO is an event triggered process. When a call occurs in Webex Calling, a webhook triggers the specified target URL and routes the request through an API gateway. A variety of processes and calculations take place within AWS before the recording is uploaded to Webex WFO. User data is synced in 30-minute intervals. User data and recording media are associated with each other using a shared User ID.

**NOTE** It may take up to thirty minutes for user data to appear in interactions listed on the Interactions page in Webex WFO.

### **Architecture Diagram**

The diagram on the next page illustrates, at a high-level, the integration between Cisco Webex Calling and Webex WFO Quality Management.



# Set up Webex Calling

To configure Webex Calling, you first need to locate and copy your Organization ID in your Webex Calling system. You will enter this copied information into Webex WFO during a later procedure that connects your Webex Calling system with Webex WFO.

You need to create and provision an administrator account. This account is used to form the connection between your organization's Webex Calling system and Webex WFO.

You also need to edit the profiles of all the users whose calls you want Webex WFO to sync. The procedures below guide you through these tasks.

**BEST PRACTICE** Set your Webex admin account username and password credentials to never expire. Cisco revokes access tokens when user credentials expire. Therefore, if your Cisco account username and password credentials expire, then the ACD in Webex WFO needs to be reauthenticated. Reauthentication may require a Cisco Technical Support engagement. If you must change your password, then you have to update the Calabrio API User Password field immediately. See <u>Configure Webex Calling in Webex WFO</u> for more information. Failure to do so breaks the integration's import process.

### Prerequisites

- If you have a Cisco Webex Contact Center integration set up, you need to set up a separate additional Webex Calling integration. Refer to the *Cisco Webex Contact Center Integration Guide* for configuration instructions on that integration.
- You need access to Webex Control Hub.
- Within Webex Control Hub, you need to have a user account that fits the following parameters.

**NOTE** This user account will be the administrator account used to configure this integration. The procedures below will guide you on how to give this account the right administrator level roles and permissions.

- The username is in FQDN format.
- The username cannot be a personal email address.

 The username must be an email address created using Active Directory sync to Cisco or created manually in the Cisco admin portal.

### **Procedures**

#### Locate your Organization ID

**NOTE** If your organization has a Webex Contact Center integration, then the Organization ID you use is the same for both your Webex Contact Center and Webex Calling integrations.

- 1. Access **Webex Control Hub** for administrators by navigating to <u>admin.webex.com</u> and entering your credentials.
- 2. Navigate to the Account page from the left navigation bar.
- 3. Copy your **Organization ID**, and save it in an easy-to-access location. Your Cisco Organization ID is referred to as Tenant ID in Webex WFO, and it is required when you set up the connection to Webex Calling in Webex WFO.

webex Control	Hub	Q Sear	rch		
<ul> <li>Alerts center</li> </ul>	Account	New Offers			
момтокима Webex Experience Analytics Troubleshooting Reports	Company Information		Company Name Organization ID	Ē	
MANAGEMENT	Data Locations		Data Type	Covered Data	Data Location
요 Users & Workspaces : Devices ; Apps			> Meetings	Recordings, transcripts, files, meeting titles, attendee names and emails, and user profiles in Webex site administration portal	
📄 Account			Messaging	Messages, files, avatars, spaces, and organization	United States

#### Assign licenses and roles to the administrator account

The user account used in this procedure is later used to complete the authentication process needed to integrate with Webex WFO. Therefore, this user must be an authorized user with the permissions listed in this procedure.

1. Click Users under Management within the left navigation bar.

webex Control H	łub	Q Search
▲ Overview	Users	
	Q Users 🛛 🖓 Licenses 📾 Contacts	
MONITORING	Users External administrators	
ol Analytics	Q Search by name or email or = Filter	or All Locations V 17 users
-v- Troubleshooting	First / Last name 🛧	Email
	agent1 wfo	and relation and the second
MANAGEMENT	agent3 wfo	agent, and the second second
Q Users	8	al private light and prove

- 2. From the **Users** page, you can edit an existing user or create a new user. If you decide to edit an existing user, proceed to the next step.
  - Alternatively, if you decide to create a new user, click Add Users and follow the onscreen prompts. Ensure the newly created user has the licenses described in step 5.
- 3. Select the desired user from the table to open that user's configuration page.
- 4. Navigate to the Licenses section under the user Summary tab, and click Edit Licenses.
- 5. Ensure the user has, at a minimum, the **Calling** licenses listed in the table below. You can choose to grant users additional licenses and roles as you desire.



# Licenses Calling Select the Webex Calling check box. Select the Professional check box.

6. Click Save. The edit page closes, and you're back on the Summary tab of the user's page.

7. Click Administrator roles.

< අ	Aditya	Summary Profile General	Meetings Calling Messaging Hybrid Services Devices Vidcast
		Add to Webex groups	
	Licenses		Basic Messaging
		🛱 Meeting	Basic Space Meetings
		& Calling	Call on Webex (1:1 call, non-PSTN)
		♀ Contact Center	Premium Agent
		Edit Licenses	
	Administrator roles	None	

8. Ensure the user has, at a minimum, the roles listed in the table below.

Administrator roles	Organizational	<ul> <li>✓ Organization admin</li> <li>● Full admin ④</li> <li>○ Read-only admin ④</li> </ul>
	Functional	<ul> <li>Support admin ①</li> <li>User and device admin ①</li> <li>Device admin ①</li> <li>Compliance officer ①</li> <li>Advanced troubleshooting access ①</li> <li>Webex Calling Detailed Call History API access ①</li> </ul>
	Delegation	<ul> <li>Location admin O</li> <li>You can't combine this role with other types of admin roles yet. <u>More on this limitation for location admins</u> C</li> </ul>
	Services	Contact center service admin Webex site admin roles 💿

Administrator roles	
Organizational	Select the Organization admin check box.
	Select Full admin.
Functional	Select the Compliance officer check box.

9. Click Save.

**NOTE** You will later enter the username for this account in the **Username** field during the Configure Webex Calling in Webex WFO procedure.

#### Configure Webex as your organization's call recording provider

- 1. Click Calling under Services in the left navigation bar. The Calling page opens.
- 2. Click the Service Settings tab at the top of the Calling page.
- 3. Scroll down to the Call Recording section.
- 4. Select Webex in the Provider drop-down list.

Reports	
O Customer Journey D	Calling
	Numbers Virtual lines Call Dauting Managed Catawaya Eastures DCTN Convise Catings
MANAGEMENT	Numbers Virtual Lines Call Routing Managed GateWays Peatures Point Settings
& Users	
& Groups	
Locations	Call Recording Provider
Workspaces	Configure the organization's call recording provider, call recording failure behavior, and compliance announcement Choose which call recording provider this organization will use.
Devices	settings.
B* Apps	recorded using Webex Calling. These call recording
f Account	settings can also be selected at the Location level. Choose a storage region. This determines where the call recordings will be physically stored for Compliance announcements will be played once during the this organization.
A Security	entire duration of the external PSTN call. United States
Organization Settings	
	Call Recording Failure
SERVICES	If call recording fails to start:
C Updates & Migrations	Proceed with the call, no announcement
Messaging	Compliance annuncemente
& Calling	Compliance announcement for inbound PCTM calls
▷ Vidcast	<ul> <li>Play announcement for outbound PSTN calls</li> <li>Play announcement for outbound PSTN calls</li> </ul>
♀ Contact Center >	
S Connected UC	Contraction Contractico Contra
<ul> <li>Hybrid</li> </ul>	10

5. Click Save.

#### Configure users whose calls you want to record

This procedure details how to provision the professional calling license and enable call recording for users whose data you want synced into Webex WFO.

**IMPORTANT** Webex WFO only syncs users who have both the professional calling license and have call recording turned on. If a Webex Calling user does not have the professional calling license and call recording turned on, then that user account and their recordings are not synced to Webex WFO.

1. Click Users under Management within the left navigation bar.

webex Control	Hub	Q Search
<ul> <li>Goverview</li> <li>Goverview</li> <li>Goverview</li> </ul>	Users ⊘ Licenses I Contacts	
MONITORING	Users External administrators           Q         Search by name or email         or         =         Filter	or All Locations V 17 users
Reports	First / Last name +	Email
	agent1 wfo	agent underst samples on
MANAGEMENT	agent3 wfo	agent, and ever setuped on
Q Users	۵	al and an interaction of
Analytics Troubleshooting Reports MANAGEMENT Q Users Croups	Q     Search by name or email     or     ≡     Filter       First / Last name +       △     agent1 wfo       △     agent3 wfo	or All Locations V 17 users

- 2. From the Users page, select the desired user from the table to open that user's configuration page.
- 3. Navigate to the Licenses section and click Edit Licenses.
- 4. Ensure the user has, at a minimum, the **Calling** licenses listed in the table below. You can choose to grant users additional licenses and roles as you desire.

Select the service entitlements that you want to provide to this user.		
D Messaging 1	<ul> <li>Subscription: Call on Webex (1:1 call, non-PSTN)</li> </ul>	
	Call on Webex (1:1 call, non-PSTN)	
	∧ Subscription: Register to Unified Communications Manager (UCM)	
& Calling 2	Register to Unified Communication Manager (UCM)	
🗘 Contact Center 🚺	<ul> <li>Subscription: Enterprise Trial - 07/27/2023</li> </ul>	
	Vebex Calling	
	Professional	

#### Licenses

Calling

Select the Webex Calling checkbox.

Select the **Professional** checkbox.

- 5. Click **Save**. The edit page closes.
- 6. Navigate to the **Calling** tab.
- 7. Scroll down to the User call experience section and click Call recording.

Overview	<	පී	agent1_rtms	Summary Profile General Meetings Calling Messaging Hybrid Services >	Acti	ons ~
			User call experience	In-call feature access	>	
MONITORING				Microsoft Teams integration	>	
10 Analytics				Application line assignment ①	>	
🔂 Troubleshooting						
III Reports				Do Not Disturb ① Disabled	>	
				Compression options () Normal compression	>	
MANAGEMENT				Call recording On	>	
& Users				Single number reach (office Disabled	>	
& Groups ▼				unymolo,		

8. Enable the toggle for **Record incoming and outgoing calls and voicemails, or set recording announcements and notifications**.

Call recording	Record incoming and outgoing calls and voicemails, or set recording announcements and
	On Demand
	🔿 Always 🛈
	• Always with Pause/Resume
	O Never 🕃
	Record voice messaging
	Recording start/stop announcement ④
	Play recording start/stop announcement for PSTN calls
	Play recording start/stop announcement for internal calls
	Pause/Resume Notification
	Play Voice Announcement
	O Play beep tone

- 9. Select Always with Pause/Resume.
- 10. Enable the toggle for **Pause/Resume Notification**.
- 11. Select Play Voice Announcement.
- 12. Click Save.

# **Configure Webex Calling in Webex WFO**

This topic explains how to set up the connection between Cisco Webex Calling and Webex WFO.

### Prerequisites

- Your Webex WFO tenant is online.
- You have successfully completed all of the Webex Calling configuration procedures detailed in the Set up Webex Calling topic.

### Procedures

**BEST PRACTICE** Configure Webex Calling in a private browser session such as incognito mode in a Google Chrome or Microsoft Edge browser.

#### Configure Cisco Webex Calling as an ACD

- In Webex WFO, navigate to Application Management > System Configuration > ACD Configuration.
- 2. Click Add. The ACD Details window opens.
- 3. Select Cisco Webex Calling from the Select ACD drop-down list.
- 4. Click OK, then the Cisco Webex Calling page opens.
- 5. Configure the following fields as described.

Field	Configuration
ACD Name	Enter a unique name for the ACD.
Username	Enter your Webex Calling username. This is a user email address associated with administrative credentials in Webex Calling.
API URL	Enter <b>https://webexapis.com</b> in the text box. This is the complete base URL of the Cisco Webex Calling API, including the protocol

Field	Configuration		
	identifier. This is not region specific.		
Tenant ID	Enter the Organization ID of the Webex Calling tenant account.		
	See the "Locate your Organization ID" procedure in <u>Set up Webex</u> <u>Calling</u> .		
Cisco API Username	<b>IMPORTANT</b> You must assign the agent role and administrator role to this tenant administrator account. If you fail to do so, calls will not be imported. See the "Assign the default agent and administrator roles to your tenant administrator account" procedure in the <i>Webex Calling Integration Guide</i> for more.		
	Your Webex WFO service account username. This service account is also referred to as your tenant administrator account or API user account. This is required for uploading data to the correct tenant. This account needs to be created by a system administrator, and the account resides in your tenant system. This tenant administrator account also needs to be given the correct permissions to upload data.		
	Contact Cisco Support for assistance with creating this tenant administrator account.		
	See <u>Create an API user</u> and <u>Manage roles and permissions</u> for more information.		
Cisco API User Password	The Webex WFO service account password.		
	<b>IMPORTANT</b> If you change your Webex Calling administrator's username or password, then you must immediately make the same changes for the Calabrio API Username and Calabrio API User Password fields.		
Metadata Mapping	(Optional) Allows you to map Webex Calling metadata to custom		

Field	Configuration		
	metadata labels in Webex WFO. Webex Calling metadata values are synced with Webex Calling contacts into Webex WFO. The Webex Calling metadata values are mapped to metadata labels you create in Metadata Manager (located at Application Management > QM > QM Configuration > Metadata Manager).		
	After it is successfully mapped, you can use metadata to add a variety of trackable information to a contact in Webex WFO. Metadata fields are in the Contact Information tab on the Media Player page (Interactions > open a contact). You can view, edit, or delete a metadata field from your system.		
Enable Webhook Settings	IMPORTANTDo not select this checkbox until after you save your Webex Calling ACD configuration. A webhook can only be set up one time and only after you complete the Webex Calling ACD configuration procedure.Create Webhook—Enables a callback function that allows Webex Calling and Webex WFO to communicate using APIs.		
Authorization URL	<ul> <li>NOTE This section only appears when you edit an existing ACD. It does not appear when you create a new ACD.</li> <li>Webex WFO connects with Webex Calling for an access token every twelve hours. If a token refresh failure occurs then the OAuth process breaks.</li> <li>Configuring this setting allows your system to reestablish the OAuth authentication in the event of a token refresh failure for a maximum of sixty days.</li> <li>A token refresh failure can occur for several reasons such as the following.</li> <li>Changing the email address of the administrator account.</li> <li>Deactivating the account in Active Directory.</li> </ul>		

Field	Configuration
	<ul> <li>Changing the password in Active Directory.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Switching from Active Directory sync to single sign-on in</li> </ul>
	your Cisco account.
	<ul> <li>Changing domains.</li> </ul>

- 6. Click Save.
- You are redirected to Cisco Webex Control Hub to complete the authentication process. Enter your Cisco Webex Calling credentials and click Sign In. Follow the onscreen prompts to accept the connection.

**NOTE** This process generates an access token in the system to authenticate the user for your organization's Cisco Webex Calling system.

#### Create and enable a webhook

- From the Webex Calling ACD Configuration page, click the Enable Webhook Settings check box. The Create Webhook button appears.
- 2. Click the **Create Webhook** button. If successful, a message stating, "Webhook created successfully!" appears.

**IMPORTANT** Do not delete the webhook within your Cisco developer's portal because this would break the connection.

3. Click Save.

# Assign the default agent and administrator roles to your tenant administrator account

- 1. Navigate to Application Management > User Configuration > Users.
- 2. Select Edit an existing user under What do you want to do?.
- Use the Select user drop-down list in the User Information section and search for the tenant administrator account username you entered in the Calabrio API Username field in the earlier, "Configure Cisco Webex Calling as an ACD", procedure.

- 4. Go to the **Roles** section, and select the default agent role and default supervisor roles in the **Available** column.
- 5. Click the black right-facing arrow to move the default agent role from the **Available** column to the **Assigned** column.
- 6. Click Save.

**(Optional) Exclude individuals from having their recordings synced into Webex WFO** There are two available options if you do not want certain individuals to be recorded in Webex Calling or if you want their recordings immediately deleted in Webex WFO.

- The preferable option is to not record certain individuals by modifying their permissions within your Webex Control Hub system. Webex WFO only imports calls from Webex Calling; therefore, you should modify these users' permissions directly in your Webex Control Hub system to exclude them from being recorded. Ensure the users do not have the professional license assigned or call recording enabled. See "Configure users whose calls you want to record" in <u>Set up Webex Calling</u> to learn where to remove the professional license and disable call recording.
- The second option is to use QM Workflows to immediately delete recordings as soon as they are imported into Webex WFO. If you want imported calls to be deleted immediately after they are imported into Webex WFO, set up QM workflows that automatically delete recordings based on workflow rules. See the following help articles to learn more about creating QM Workflows.
  - QM Quick Reference Guide to Workflows
  - Automate QM Workflows
  - How workflow administration works

### Sync metadata to Webex WFO

This topic details the procedures for collecting and formatting metadata from Webex Calling, creating metadata labels in Webex WFO Metadata Manager, and then mapping the metadata from Webex Calling to Webex WFO metadata labels. After you successfully map custom metadata from Webex Calling to metadata labels in Webex WFO, you can use that mapped metadata to add a variety of trackable information to a contact in Webex WFO. Locate metadata fields in the Media Player Details panel (located in the Interactions page > open a contact > Details panel) where you can view or delete metadata fields.

### Prerequisites

- Webex Calling must be configured as an ACD in Webex WFO.
- You must have the following permissions.
  - Administer Metadata Fields
  - View Custom Metadata
  - Edit Custom Metadata
  - Administer ACD Configuration

### **Page location**

- Application Management > QM Configuration > Metadata Manager (To create metadata labels)
- Application Management > System Configuration > ACD Configuration > Webex Calling (To map Webex Calling metadata to metadata labels in Webex WFO)
- Interactions tab (To view custom metadata associated with recordings)

### Procedures

#### Collect and format metadata

This procedure details how to collect and format appropriate metadata from Webex Calling before you map it to Webex WFO metadata labels. Webex WFO supports text-based metadata. Other types of metadata such as dates, hyperlinks, and numbers are not supported.

- 1. Refer to Cisco's <u>Consolidated Metadata Documentation and Samples Guide</u> for a list of supported metadata fields. Determine which fields you want to map.
- Format the fields exactly as they are written. Fields are case sensitive. Do not add spacing. field

**EXAMPLE** To map the organization ID, format like this, orgId. Not like this, OrgID.

3. If the metadata has a subfield, separate the field and subfield with a period.

field.subfield

**EXAMPLE** To map the call recording ID, format the serviceData field and callRecordingId subfield like this. serviceData.callRecordingId

#### Create metadata labels in Metadata Manager

Before you can map metadata on the Webex Calling ACD Configuration page, you must first create and configure metadata labels on the Metadata Manager page.

### Navigate to Webex WFO > Application Management > QM Configuration > Metadata Manager.

2. Complete the fields as described below.

**NOTE** You must select **Text** from the **Metadata Type** drop-down list on the Metadata Manager page to map metadata. Configure all other fields on the Metadata Manager page as desired.

Field	Description
Metadata Key	(Automatically generated) A unique identifier for the metadata
	field, used by APIs. The metadata key is generated based on
	the text you enter in the Metadata Label field. Spaces are
	replaced with hyphens, and "-key" is added at the end. For
	example, if you enter example text in the Metadata Label
	field, the Metadata Key field displays example-text-key.
	The Metadata Key field does not allow ampersands (&) or
	equal signs (=). If those symbols appear in the Metadata Label
	field, they are removed automatically in the Metadata Key
	field.
	Max characters = 39.
Metadata Label	The name associated with the metadata field that appears in
	search results and contact information.
Metadata Type	The type of information contained in the metadata field: date,
	hyperlink, number, or text.

Description		
This field is only applicable to on-premise deployments of Webex WFO.		
Identifies the metadata imported from the ACD. Webex WFO reconciles ACD data by matching contact information in Webex WFO with call information stored in the ACD and changes the contact information in Webex WFO. The data is updated periodically.		
when you map metadata to ACD Data, you must select Text in the Type field.		
(Optional) A unique identifier to map metadata with Data Explorer. You can map up to 20 metadata fields with Data Explorer.		
<ul> <li>(Optional) Select this option if you want to report on contacts based on custom metadata fields. If you select this box, Webex WFO encrypts the metadata when stored. The Encrypted check box is enabled only if the Exportable check box is cleared.</li> <li><b>NOTE</b> You cannot search for encrypted metadata.</li> </ul>		
If selected, you can export the metadata via Webex WFO or an API. This check box is selected by default.		
If selected, the metatdata is read-only. You cannot add or edit metadata to a contact through Webex WFO.          NOTE       If the metadata is ACD data, this check box is selected by default and is disabled.		

#### 3. Click Save.

### Map metadata values to metadata labels

Follow this procedure to map metadata from Webex Calling and Webex WFO metadata labels to each other.

- Navigate to Webex WFO > Application Management > Global > System Configuration > ACD Configuration.
- 2. Under Select ACD, click Add.
- 3. Select Webex Calling from the Select ACD drop-down list and click Ok. The Webex Calling page opens.
- 4. Within the Metadata Mapping section, click Add Mapping.
- 5. In the text box under **ACD Metadata Name**, enter a metadata value. This field is case-sensitive, and your entry must exactly match the string type.
- 6. Click the drop-down list under the **Metadata Label** column, and select a metadata label from the list of options. The list of options matches the table of metadata labels on the Metadata Manager page.

**EXAMPLE** In the example image below serviceData.callRecordingId is mapped to a metadata label.

Cis	Cisco Webex Calling				
~	ACD Name	Metadata Mapping	to map the ACD metadata fiel	ds to metadata labels	
$\checkmark$	Cisco Webex Calling	ACD Metadata Name	Metadata Label		
$\checkmark$	Calabrio Configuration				
~	Metadata Mapping	serviceData.callRecord	Recording Id -	$\checkmark \times$	
$\checkmark$	Enable RTE Messaging for Screen Recording	+ ADD MAPPING			

- 7. Click the check icon to save the metadata mapping.
- 8. (Optional) Click Add Mapping to add additional metadata mappings and repeat as desired.
- 9. Click Save.

#### View custom metadata associated with recordings

- 1. Click the Interactions tab in the top navigation bar.
- 2. Click the List options icon in the top-right corner.



- 3. From the drop-down list, click Show/Hide columns. The Show/Hide columns window opens.
- 4. Find the Custom Metadata section under Hidden columns.
- 5. Select the custom metadata values you want to show on the **Interactions** page. The metadata you select appears in the **Shown columns** table.
- 6. Click Apply.

### **Related topics**

- Manage metadata fields
- Explore data associated with a contact
- Edit custom metadata associated with a contact

# Integration details

This chapter contains additional information regarding synchronization, complex call events, data mappings, and more.

# **Complex call events**

This topic describes how Webex WFO handles complex call scenarios. Complex call scenarios are various actions that can take place during a call. They include transfers, conferences, holds, and parked calls. In Cisco Webex Calling, a call segment is formed when there's a participant change, such as when a user joins a call for a consult.

In Webex WFO an audio call and all of its associated data, such as screen recordings and metadata, are referred to as a contact. Associated contact ID is the identifier that connects an original call with all derivative legs of the call that are recorded in Webex WFO. This means each resulting contact shares the same Associated contact ID as the original call. You can view associated contacts in the Media Player (Interactions > Double-click a contact).

When multiple agents handle the same customer call (for example, when one agent transfers the call to another), Webex WFO creates a separate contact for each agent involved and gives these contacts the same associated contact ID. The Associated Contacts section displays such contacts, allowing you to see all segments of a call, from when it enters the contact center to when it ends.

### EXAMPLE

A customer calls Agent A. Agent A transfers the customer to Agent B, and Agent B transfers the customer to Supervisor C. Webex WFO creates three separate contacts and gives them the same associated contact ID.



### **Complex call event types**

- Transfers Webex WFO segments the call by the number of times that it was transferred. For each transfer, Webex WFO creates a separate contact, and it associates each contact with the user who handled that segment of the transferred call.
- Conferences Webex WFO segments the original call into two contacts. The first contact in Webex WFO is associated with the user who answered the customer's call. The second contact is associated with the user who was brought into the call. The recording for the first user's contact spans the entire time the user is involved on the call. The recording for the second contact only spans the time that the second user joined the call.
- Cold (blind) Webex WFO uses "cold (blind)" to describe both transfer and conference scenarios. This descriptor involves routing an existing call directly to an additional user without any communication between the two users before the transfer or conference takes place.
- Warm Webex WFO uses "warm" to describe both transfer and conference scenarios. This descriptor means the first user speaks to the second user to provide relevant context and background information before the transfer or conference takes place. The consultation portion of a warm transfer or conference is included in contact recordings.
- Parks In parked scenarios Webex WFO segments the call into two contacts. The recording for the first contact spans the time before the call was parked. The recording for the second contact spans the time after the call was retrieved from park. Meaning, parking a call ends a contact, and retrieving a parked call creates a new contact.
- Consults The first contact is associated with the user who answered the customer's call, and the second contact is associated with the user who was brought into the call for a consultation. The recording for the first contact spans the entire length of the customer's call. The recording for the second contact spans only the length of time that the users were consulting.

Туре	Supported	Description
Call accepted/ended	Yes	A user accepts a customer call, and the call ends without any call events, such as holds or transfers, taking place.
Call accepted/ended - internal	Yes	A user accepts a call from another user at the same organization.

The following table details different call event types and if Webex WFO supports them.

#### Integration details | About synchronization

Туре	Supported	Description
Hold/Resume	Yes	A customer is put on hold. Hold music is played on the customer's leg of the call.
		<b>NOTE</b> Speech energy events, including hold markers, are not supported for this integration.
Pause and resume (manual)	Yes	A call is paused. Pause and resume adheres to PCI compliance standards. Unlike hold/resume, no hold music is played on the customer's leg of the call; only silence is heard.
		A user must manually trigger pause and resume within their Cisco Webex Calling system, and Webex WFO recognizes the manual trigger.
Cold (blind) transfer	Yes	A call is transferred from one user to another user.
Warm transfer		
Cold conference	Yes	A call interaction with two or more users.
Warm conference		
Park*	Yes	A call is put on hold (parked), and the call can be picked up (retrieved) by the same user or a different user.
Call queue	Yes	Callers wait their turn to be attended to when all available representatives are busy.

\* Hunting and hoteling are also supported scenarios.

# About synchronization

This section explains how user data and contact data from Webex Calling syncs with Webex WFO.

**IMPORTANT** If a Webex Calling user does not have any recordings and does not have the proper settings configured (see <u>Set up Webex Calling</u>), then the user is not synced into Webex WFO. When a Webex Calling recording is detected for a properly configured user account, Webex WFO detects it, syncs it into Webex WFO, and creates a Webex WFO user profile for that user.

- Users, recordings, and recording data are synced in thirty-minute intervals.
- A user's ID value in Webex Calling maps to the Webex WFO Agent ACD ID value.
- Users that you create in Webex WFO are only maintained in Webex WFO and are not synced back to Webex Calling. Synchronization of data flows exclusively from Webex Calling to Webex WFO.
- Hierarchial relationships in Webex Calling between agents and supervisors are not preserved in Webex WFO.
- Webex WFO imports recordings from Webex Calling, and imports require processing time before they are available in Webex WFO.

The tables below details when the integration detects a change in Webex Calling, what the resulting change is in Webex WFO.

### User sync

When there is new or modified Webex Calling user data, the sync service detects it in thirty-minute intervals and makes several changes in Webex WFO. The following table summarizes these changes.

**NOTE** Webex Calling users must have the Webex Control Hub settings detailed in the "Configure users whose calls you want to record" procedure in <u>Set up Webex Calling</u> to be synced.

Action in Webex Calling	Resulting change in Webex WFO		
A new user who has a recording is added. The sync service identifies the following three fields. First name Last name User ID	<ul> <li>New user is added. Specifically, the sync service updates the following data for the user's new Webex WFO profile.</li> <li>First name</li> <li>Last name</li> <li>Agent ACD ID</li> </ul>		
User's first or last name is changed.	User's first or last name is changed.		
User is deleted.	User is deactivated. A record of the deactivated user still exists in Webex WFO.		

|--|

User is assigned an agent,User is assigned the default agent role regardless of their role in Webexsupervisor, or administratorCalling. See Create and edit users to learn how to change a user's role.role.

### Teams

In Webex Calling, the concept of a team (a collection of agents) does not exist. Therefore, when Webex Calling users are synced, they are assigned to the default team in Webex WFO. See <u>Create and edit users</u> to learn how to move a user from the default team and <u>Manage teams</u> to learn more about setting up and customizing teams.

A user can belong to only one team in Webex WFO.

### Contact data sync

When a contact is detected in Webex Calling, Webex WFO performs the resulting actions.

**NOTE** In the event of outages or failures, Webex WFO has a recovery process to prevent data loss.

Action in Webex Calling	Resulting action in Webex WFO
A contact (for example, a phone call) is completed.	<ul> <li>Syncs the recording.</li> <li>If the user handling the contact does not exist in Webex WFO, then Webex WFO creates a user profile for the user and a contact that includes the recording and its data on the Interactions page.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>If the user handling the contact does exist in Webex WFO, then Webex WFO creates a contact of that recording and its data on the Interactions page.</li> </ul>
	See Play contacts for more information about the Interactions page.

## Limitations

- Every new call generates a session ID, which causes multiple session IDs to form and would result in multiple call interactions cluttering the Webex WFO interface. In some cases, Webex WFO is unable to showcase all interactions in one recording interface.
- Webex WFO only receives mono calls from Webex Calling. Therefore, features such as full speech energy event support, transcriptions, and other analytics features are not supported. Audio streams appear red in the media player.
- Contact data, including recordings and screen recordings, is available for transferred call legs when the transfer is internal. Contact data is not available for transferred call legs when the transfer is to an external organization.
- Speech energy events are not supported, with the exception of pause events. Pause speech energy events appear in the media player specific to the scenario detailed below.
  - Pause event markers are supported in the media player. In pause and resume scenarios, pause event markers only appear in the media player of the person who manually triggered the pause event during a call. Pause event markers do not appear in the media player for other individuals in the call who did not manually trigger the pause event.